SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIAJUL - 7 2016

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S231826

v.

MARIO MARTINEZ
Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Case No. E063107 Riverside Superior Court, Case No. RIF136990

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APPELLATE DEFENDERS, INC.

Cindi B. Mishkin Staff Attorney State Bar No. 169537

555 West Beech Street Suite 300

San Diego, CA 92101

Bus: 619-696-0282

Fax: 619-696-7789

Email: cbm@adi-sandiego.com

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES IN THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does Proposition 47 allow relief for *any* felony conviction that, based on the facts underlying the offense, satisfies the elements of any of the misdemeanor offenses listed in section 1170.18?
- 2. Had Proposition 47 been in effect when defendant committed the offense of transportation of methamphetamine (for

personal use in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11379), would that offense qualify for resentencing pursuant to section 1170.18 as a misdemeanor violation of Health and Safety Code section 11377, taking into consideration that prior to enactment of Proposition 47, the Legislature reduced the offense of transportation of methamphetamine for personal use to a misdemeanor?

INTRODUCTION

In the November 2014 general election, the California electorate enacted Proposition 47: The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act. The new and revised laws of this proposition, among other actions, redefined some elements of nonserious and nonviolent theft offenses and reclassified these crimes, as well as nonserious and nonviolent drug offenses, from felonies to misdemeanors. It reduced the corresponding sentences of these crimes. When the voters enacted these new and revised laws, they provided for broad, retroactive application of the reduced sentences. This case explores how to determine whether a transportation of methamphetamine conviction that occurred before enactment of Proposition 47, and where the Legislature added a new "transport for sale" element to the transportation crime after appellant's conviction but shortly before the enactment of

Proposition 47, is eligible for recall and resentencing as a simple possession crime.

Section 1170.18 defines which convictions are eligible for retroactive application of the new ameliorative sentencing laws created and modified by Proposition 47; retroactivity applies not only to convictions where the defendant is currently serving his sentence but also to convictions where the defendant has already served his sentence. To determine eligibility for resentencing, Proposition 47 directs trial courts to review the facts underlying the conviction at issue based on the new and revised laws created by Proposition 47. But this review cannot occur in a vacuum. The new and revised laws created by Proposition 47 necessarily incorporate statutory changes that occurred after the conviction but before Proposition 47 became effective. This is so because the electorate is imputed to know of all intervening statutory changes between the time of a potentially eligible conviction and the time when it created Proposition 47.

Given this specific statutory directive, the trial court should assess appellant's eligibility for Proposition 47 recall and resentencing of his 2007 transportation conviction not by reference to the statute he was convicted under before Proposition 47 became effective. Rather, statutory language created by Proposition 47 tells the court that it must determine eligibility by

answering the question whether defendant "would have been guilty of a misdemeanor" had the new law been in effect at the time of the offense.

That is, to determine eligibility for Proposition 47 recall and resentencing, the court must look at the facts underlying the conviction in light of the laws that came between the conviction and Proposition 47, as well as the laws amended and created by Proposition 47. And here, as a result of the Legislature's 2014 clarification to the elements of transportation, making it clear that to be criminal the transportation had to be for sale, and the fact appellant did not transport the contraband for sale. the eligibility determination created by Proposition 47 reveals appellant's conviction would only be a misdemeanor. He would have been guilty of no more than simple possession. The trial court erred when it failed to consider recall and resentencing appellant for this drug crime that would be a misdemeanor had the new and revised laws of Proposition 47, understood within the context of the laws created between the conviction and Proposition 47, been in effect in 2007 when officers found contraband on the floorboard of the car in which appellant was riding.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Underlying Convictions Proceedings

On August 9, 2007, the People filed a two count Information alleging appellant had violated Health and Safety Code section 11379, subdivision (a) [unlawful transportation of methamphetamine – count 1] and Health and Safety Code section 11377, subdivision (a) [unlawful possession of methamphetamine – count 2]. In addition to these substantive counts, the Information alleged appellant had served five prior prison terms within the meaning of Penal Code¹ section 667.5, subdivision (b) and had two strike priors within the meaning of sections 667, subdivisions (c)-(e) and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(A). (C.T. pp. 3-5.)

On December 4, 2007, after hearing evidence, a jury found appellant guilty of both counts as charged. Appellant withdrew his previous admission to the prior strike convictions/prison term enhancements and waived jury trial for their resolution. (Supp. C.T. pp. 1-2.) Ten days later, the court granted the People's motion to dismiss the third prior prison term enhancement and found all remaining allegations true. (Supp. C.T. pp. 3-4.) After multiple continuances (Supp. C.T. pp. 5-15), on July 11, 2008, the

¹Future statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

court dismissed one strike prior under *People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497 (Supp. C.T. pp. 16-17; R.T. pp. 20-26) and ordered appellant to serve a 12 year prison term: the upper second strike eight year term for count 1 [four years, doubled for the second strike] and a year for each prior prison term enhancement. It stayed the four year concurrent term on count 2 under section 654. Finally, it awarded mandatory fines and fees. (C.T. pp. 20-21 [clerk's minutes], 22-25 [abstract of judgement]; R.T. pp. 26-30.)

B. Proposition 47 Application

1. Proceedings

On November 13, 2014, in pro per, petitioner filed a petition for recall and resentencing under section 1170.18 (Proposition 47). (C.T. pp. 26-28.) On December 18, 2014, the People filed a response. (Supp. C.T. pp. 20-21.) Petitioner, by then represented by counsel, filed a reply. (Supp. C.T. pp. 25-38.) On March 13, 2015, the trial court denied resentencing for count 1 and granted the request for count 2. It then vacated the previously-imposed sentence on count 2 and ordered appellant to serve a 364 day term, concurrent to count 1. (C.T. p. 31; R.T. pp. 33-37.) Appellant filed a notice of appeal (C.T. p. 32) and an amended notice of appeal (C.T. p. 34) shortly thereafter.

In an opinion filed December 15, 2015, the Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's Proposition 47 rulings and ordered the new misdemeanor 364 day sentence on count 2 to be stayed under section 654. (Slip opn., page 7.)

2. Arguments Made In The Trial Court

In the written petition appellant prepared, he requested modification of his sentence under Proposition 47 "changing a felony to misdemeanor 11377 A my charge." (C.T. p. 28.) He asked the court to "[C]onsider [R]emedial sentence for a program or [R]elease or modification." (C.T. p. 28.)

In its response, the People asserted appellant was "not eligible on Count 1" and conceded he was entitled to resentencing "Only as to Count 2. Should not change overall prison sentence." (Supp. C.T. p. 20.) The court appointed counsel and set the matter for conference. (Supp. C.T. p. 21.) In written filings, appellant asserted he was eligible for resentencing under Proposition 47 because, as a result of the Legislative change to Health and Safety Code section 11379, enacted on January 1, 2014, he would be convicted only of simple possession were he convicted today. This is so, he asserted, because there was no evidence the small amount of methamphetamine was transported for sale. (C.T. pp. 27-31.)

At the hearing on March 13, 2015, counsel emphasized the record showed appellant transported the methamphetamine for personal use. (R.T. p. 33.) Because the Legislature had recently modified the transportation crime, were appellant to have been convicted today, he would have been convicted of possession for personal use. (R.T. p. 33.) Counsel argued literal construction of the statute was proper to assess whether section 1170.18 applied to appellant and noted the language did not list crimes eligible for resentencing. Rather, it simply "says whether a person currently serving a sentence for a conviction whether by trial or plea would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under this act had it been in place." (R.T. p. 34.) Because the Legislature modified the transportation crime before the electorate passed Proposition 47, and because the electorate is presumed to have incorporated other charges – it is not only the theft counts that are to be expansively read – were appellant to be convicted today, he would be convicted of a misdemeanor. (R.T. p. 34.)

After characterizing appellant's position as imaginative (R.T. p. 34), the court denied appellant's petition as to count 1 and granted it on count 2. (R.T. p. 35.) It reasoned Proposition 47 was very specific as to drug counts, Health and Safety Code section 11379 still exists, and the electorate did not include it in this list of eligible counts. Different from the drug counts is

the statute's treatment of theft counts. It lists specific theft statutes but also contains the generic inclusive language about all and any thefts. (R.T. p. 35.) Determinative for the court was the fact that the electorate could have but did not include Health and Safety Code section 11379 in the statute's list of crimes eligible for reduction. (R.T. pp. 35, 36.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Shortly after noon on May 29, 2007, Riverside County Sheriff's Department Officer Hirakoa followed the car in which appellant was a passenger after noticing the month sticker on the license plate was not identifiable. While the Officer Hirakoa followed the car, appellant leaned forward several times. Officer Hirakoa turned on his overhead lights and stopped the car.

After reviewing the driver's license and the car registration, Officer

Hirakoa discovered an outstanding warrant for the driver, Candace Eves.

He asked her to step out of the car and, after she did so, he arrested her. He then walked to the passenger side of the car and asked appellant to step out

²This factual statement is taken from the Court of Appeal's unpublished opinion, filed on June 22, 2010, in appellant's original direct appeal from the underlying criminal convictions. (*People v. Martinez* (June 22, 2010, E046651) [nonpub. opn.].) The Court of Appeal took judicial notice of this earlier opinion. In conjunction with this opening brief on the merits, appellant has filed a new motion for judicial notice.

of the car. Appellant moved his right foot to exit the car, and Officer Hirakoa saw a small clear plastic bag on the car floor mat.

After appellant got out of the car and a backup officer arrived,

Officer Hirakoa examined the small bag and saw it contained

methamphetamine. He searched appellant and the car, but found no

additional contraband. Neither appellant nor the driver appeared to be

under the influence of methamphetamine.

Appellant claimed the methamphetamine did not belong to him.

The driver, testifying under a grant of immunity, explained that appellant drover her to a friend's house, where she had purchased the methamphetamine. For safekeeping, she placed it in her bra. She and appellant then had plans to smoke the methamphetamine together later when appellant picked her up. After he did so, she drove the car because she had a valid driver's license. When Officer Hirakoa began following them, she knew she had the methamphetamine in her bra and became concerned. She tried to throw the methamphetamine into the air conditioner vent but the methamphetamine fell to the floor mat, landing near appellant's feet.

When the driver was interviewed, she denied the methamphetamine was hers. When the driver met appellant's mother just before trial, the driver said: "I'm sorry. The stuff was mine."

BECAUSE THE CRIMINAL CONDUCT UNDERLYING APPELLANT'S TRANSPORTATION OF METHAMPHETAMINE CONVICTION WOULD HAVE AMOUNTED ONLY TO A MISDEMEANOR POSSESSION OF METHAMPHETAMINE CONVICTION HAD THE SAFE NEIGHBORHOODS AND SCHOOLS ACT BEEN IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF APPELLANT'S OFFENSE, NECESSARILY VIEWING THIS ACT IN THE CONTEXT IN WHICH IT WAS ENACTED AND NOT IN ISOLATION, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND APPELLANT'S CONVICTION INELIGIBLE FOR PROPOSITION 47 RECALL AND RESENTENCING CONSIDERATION...

On November 4, 2014, the voters enacted the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act (hereafter Proposition 47). The new and revised laws became effective the next day. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10, subd. (a).) In order to redirect funds from incarcerations costs so they could be redistributed to three broad purposes: K-12 education, services to victims of crimes, and public agencies aimed at mental health treatment, substance abuse treatment and diversion programs for defendants in the criminal justice system, the initiative made significant changes to felony sentencing laws involving nonserious and nonviolent property and drug crimes. Specifically, it added sections 459.5, 490.2, and 1170.18 and amended sections 473, 476a, 496, and 666, as well as Health and Safety Code sections 11350, 11357, and 11377. To allocate these redirected funds, Proposition 47 also added chapter 33 to the Government Code. (Gov. Code, § 7599 et seq.; Voter

Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, §§ 4–14, pp. 70–74.)

Integral to the electorate's scheme is the explicit retroactive application of Proposition 47's revised sentencing structure.³ For retroactive application of the new and revised laws, section 1170.18 guides recall and resentencing of eligible convictions where the sentence is currently being served⁴ and designation as misdemeanors of eligible convictions where the sentence is completed. Under the statutory language, eligibility for recall and resentencing of a conviction currently being served or eligibility for designation as a misdemeanor of a completed sentence of a conviction is based not on the mere identification of which specific statute appellant violated at the time of his offense. And, eligibility is not determined by simply looking at the list of statutes created and revised by Proposition 47. Rather, section 1170.18 directs that eligibility be determined by looking at the conviction's underlying conduct to answer the

³Of course, application of these new statutory changes operates prospectively as well. (§ 3.) Prosecution of pending and future offenses simply proceeds under the newly created or amended statutes. This case does not involve the prospective application of Proposition 47.

⁴This appeal concerns recall and resentencing of a defendant currently serving a sentence under section 1170.18, subdivisions (a) and (b).

question whether appellant would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the new and revised laws of Proposition 47.⁵

When the electorate created this scheme to assess whether recall and resentencing or designation of a conviction as a misdemeanor is appropriate, it necessarily took into account and assimilated the Legislature's earlier clarification that the crime of transportation occurred only where the transportation is for sale. Only ten months before the electorate passed Proposition 47, the Legislature had clarified physical movement of contraband, for example by car or bicycle, could constitute the transportation crime only if it involved transportation for sale. At most, transportation of contraband for personal use could amount to a nonserious, nonviolent drug possession crime. It is within this context, knowing the clarification of the law and leaving the clarification in place, that the electorate created the scheme of the retroactive application of Proposition 47.

When considering eligibility for retroactive application of Proposition 47 relief, the court must analyze whether, based on these new

⁵Eligibility for relief is precluded if defendant has a prior "super strike" or a prior conviction requiring registration under section 290, subdivision (c). (§ 1170.18, subd. (i); see *People v. Perkins* (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 129, 138.) Appellant has no such prior convictions.

and revised laws, appellant would have been guilty of these new and revised crimes had they been in effect at the time the offense occurred. In this case, had these new laws been in effect at the time appellant committed his offense in 2007, he would have been guilty only of a misdemeanor. This is because the record of conviction shows appellant transported the contraband in a car only for personal use, an act considered a nonviolent and nonserious possession crime at the time Proposition 47 was enacted. The trial court erred when it failed to consider recall and resentence of appellant's nonserious and nonviolent drug transportation crime. Reversal and remand for the unreasonable risk of danger to public safety consideration under section 1170.18, subdivision (b) is appropriate.

A. Principles of Statutory Interpretation Are Well Settled.
The Language Of The Statute And The Intent Of The
Lawmaker Guide The Instant Analysis.

This case considers the meaning of the new statute, section 1170.18, subdivision (a), defining which convictions are eligible to request resentencing under the new and revised laws created by Proposition 47. It presents a question of statutory interpretation, which is reviewed de novo. (*People v. Prunty* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 59, 71.) When interpreting a voter initiative, courts apply the same analysis used for statutory interpretation. (*People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685.) As with analysis of any law,

this court "strive[s] to ascertain and effectuate" the electorate's intent.

(People v. Castanada (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743, 746.)

The court first turns "to the statutory language, giving the words their ordinary meaning. [Citation.] If the statutory language is not ambiguous, then the plain meaning of the language governs. [Citation.]." (People v. Lopez (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1002, 1006.) "[T]he plain meaning rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a measure comports with its purpose or whether such a construction of one provision is consistent with other provisions of the statute." [Citation.] The language is construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme, and we give "significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose. [Citation.]" [Citations.] The intent of the law prevails over the letter of the law, and "the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act. [Citation.]" [Citation.]" (People v. Canty (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266. 1276-77.)

"When the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, however, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and

the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part. [Citations]." (*People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1008.) In addition, when assessing the meaning of a ballot initiative's ambiguous language, courts "refer to other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (*People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 243.) "If a penal statute is still reasonably susceptible to multiple constructions, then we ordinarily adopt the "'construction which is more favorable to the offender....'" [Citation]." (*People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685-86

B. The Electorate's Intent, When Enacting Proposition 47, Is Clearly Presented In The Ballot Pamphlet.

The Electorate's intent underlying its approval of Proposition 47 is not a mystery. It is specifically stated in the ballot pamphlet. Section 3 provides in pertinent part: "In enacting this act, it is the purpose and intent of the people of the State of California to: (1) Ensure that people convicted of murder, rape, and child molestation will not benefit from this act. (2) Create the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Fund [with specific distribution of the fund]. (3) Require misdemeanors instead of felonies for nonserious, nonviolent crimes like petty theft and drug possession, unless the defendant has prior convictions for specified violent or serious crimes. (4) Authorize consideration of resentencing for anyone who is currently serving a

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