In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SEP - 6 2016

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

) |

MARIO MARTINEZ,

v.

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S231826

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E063107 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF136990 The Honorable Becky Dugan, Judge Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

THE SUPERIOR COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR RECALL OF SENTENCE AND FOUND APPELLANT INELIGIBLE FOR RELIEF BECAUSE PROPOSITION 47 DOES NOT APPLY TO CONVICTIONS UNDER HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE SECTION 11379

Appellant was lawfully convicted of felony transportation of methamphetamine under Health and Safety Code section 11379. His conviction remains valid today, even after the Legislature's 2014 amendment to section 11379, which added an additional element requiring that transportation occur with the intent to sell. The electorate enacted Proposition 47 in November 2014, which included no language permitting appellant to reduce his felony transportation conviction to a misdemeanor

possession offense. Nonetheless, appellant contends the Act permits him to do so because the conduct underlying his conviction appears to satisfy the elements of simple possession of a controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section 11377, which is enumerated in the Act, and the electorate would have been aware of the Legislature's 2014 amendment to section 11379 and implicitly incorporated that amendment into the Act. Appellant, therefore, claims he should receive the benefit of Proposition 47 as to his transportation conviction. (ABOM 28, 42.) Even more broadly, appellant claims the drafters intended for the Act to apply to *any* crime in which the underlying conduct satisfies the elements of any of the enumerated offenses covered by the Act. (ABOM 13-14, 19-23.) Appellant's contentions should be rejected.

The plain language of the Act limits relief to specifically enumerated offenses, and section 11379 is not included in that list. Unlike the Act's amended property crime statutes, some of which redefine grand theft and commercial burglary, the enumerated drug possession statutes do not redefine possession or add any other language to incorporate enumerated drug offenses, such as section 11379. Further, the omission of any reference to the Legislature's amendment of Health and Safety Code section 11379 in the Act or the Voter Information Guide weakens appellant's argument that the Act incorporates pre-2014 transportation convictions.

But even if the Act had been in effect when appellant committed his offense, as required by Penal Code section 1170.18, he would still not be entitled to relief. If the Act were in effect in 2007 when appellant committed his crime, it would still be a felony transportation offense rather than a possession offense. The 2007 jury was not required to determine whether appellant actually or constructively possessed the methamphetamine, because that is not an element of the transportation offense. Further, the Act offers no procedure for negating the jury's finding,

-

beyond a reasonable doubt, that all of the elements of Health and Safety Code section 11379 were satisfied. And even assuming the Legislature's amendment could be read as permitting appellant to use the Act to convert his conviction to a possession offense, such a reading would deprive the People of the opportunity to prove the intent to sell element.

Finally, appellant's argument that the Act broadly applies to any felony conviction that offers facts that would satisfy the elements of enumerated misdemeanor offenses under the Act should be rejected. The Act contains no language incorporating unenumerated crimes other than very specific language added to a couple of the amended property crime statutes that redefined a small class of grand theft and commercial burglary offenses. Extending that procedure to drug possession offenses is untenable because it would re-write the statute and also require the re-litigation of a wide variety of valid felony convictions that the electorate did not intend to be affected by Proposition 47.

A. The Act, Including Penal Code section 1170.18 and Health and Safety Code Section 11377, Clearly and Unambiguously Omits Any Reference to Health and Safety Code Section 11379 or Any Other Drug Offense

Although appellant's 2007 felony transportation conviction was unaffected by the Legislature's 2014 amendment to Health and Safety Code section 11379, he argues the Act permits him to reduce his felony conviction to a misdemeanor because the underlying facts of his offense appear to be equivalent to a misdemeanor possession of methamphetamine offense under Health and Safety Code section 11377 as amended by the Act. (ABOM 19-24.) Appellant is mistaken. The Act includes no reference to Health and Safety Code section 11379 or any other unenumerated drug offense in any of its sections. (See Act, §§ 1-18.) Further, unlike some of the amended property crime statutes amended or added to the Act, the enumerated drug possession offenses did not redefine "possession" to

incorporate other unenumerated drug crimes or provide any procedure for permitting other drug offenses to be included.

1. General Principles of Statutory Construction

The interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same rules that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (*People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796.) First, the language of the statute is given its ordinary and plain meaning. (*Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901 (*Robert L.*).) "When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction and courts should not indulge in it." (*People v. Hendrix* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 508, 512 [internal quotations and citations omitted].)

Second, the statutory language is construed in the context of the statute as a whole and within the framework of the overall statutory scheme to effectuate the voters' intent. (Ibid.) Statutory interpretation canons are employed to determine the meaning of the statute's plain language. For example, the statutory interpretation canon expressio unius est exclusio alterius ("expressio unius") means that inclusion of one thing in a statute indicates exclusion of another thing not expressed in the statute. (E.g. Gikas v. Zolin (1993) 6 Cal.4th 841, 852.) This canon has force only when the items expressed in a statute are members of an "associated group or series," which justifies the conclusion that items not mentioned were excluded by deliberate choice, not inadvertence. (E.g. Barnhart v. Peabody Coal Co. (2003) 537 U.S. 149, 168.) Where a statute lists specific exemptions, courts may not infer additional exemptions unless there is a *clear* legislative intent that such additional exemptions are intended. (Wildlife Alive v. Chickering (1976) 17 Cal.3d 190, 195, superseded by statute in Berkeley Hillside Preservation v. City of Berkeley (2015) 60 Cal.4th 1086.)

Third, where the language is ambiguous, the court will look to "other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments

contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (*Robert L.*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900; *People v. Floyd* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 187–188 [ballot pamphlet information is a valuable aid in construing the intent of voters].) Any ambiguities in an initiative statute are "not interpreted in the defendant's favor if such an interpretation would provide an absurd result, or a result inconsistent with apparent [electorate] intent." (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782, internal citation and quotation omitted.) Ultimately, the court's duty is to interpret and apply the language of the initiative "so as to effectuate the electorate's intent." (*Robert L.*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900.)

2. The Act States Proposition 47 Relief May Be Granted for the "Offenses Listed" in Penal Code Section 1170.18, and Health and Safety Code Section 11379 Is Not Included Among Them

The Act, in an un-codified section declaring the "Purpose and Intent," states in part: "In enacting this act, it is the purpose and intent of the people of the State of California to: ... $[\P]$ (4) Authorize consideration of resentencing for anyone who is currently serving a sentence for any of the offenses listed herein that are now misdemeanors." (2014 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop. 47 (Proposition 47) (WEST), § 3, emphasis added.) A conviction under Health and Safety Code section 11379 remains a felony today. The Act did not change this. It added or amended only the following sections three drug offenses and six property offenses— to make them subject to misdemeanor punishment: sections 11350, 11357, or 11377 of the Health and Safety Code, and sections 459.5, 473, 476a, 490.2, 496, and 666 of the Penal Code. (Pen. Code, § 1170.18.) Health and Safety Code section 11379 is not included among that list, nor is it referenced within the three amended Health and Safety Code sections. The Act's express inclusion of only particular enumerated offenses implies the drafters intended to exclude non-enumerated offenses, like Health and Safety Code section 11379.

Under the well-established statutory interpretation canon *expressio* unius est exclusio alterius, the Act's inclusion of only particular offenses demonstrates legislative intent to omit Health and Safety Code section 11379. As discussed above, this statutory interpretation canon means that inclusion of one thing in a statute indicates the drafters intended to exclude another thing not expressed in the statute. (E.g. Gikas v. Zolin, supra, 6 Cal.4th at p. 852.) This canon has force only when the items expressed in a statute are members of an "associated group or series," which justifies the conclusion that items not mentioned were excluded by deliberate choice, not inadvertence. (E.g. Barnhart v. Peabody Coal Co., supra, 537 U.S. at p. 168.) Where a statute lists specific exemptions, courts may not infer additional exemptions unless there is a clear legislative intent that such additional exemptions are intended. (Wildlife Alive v. Chickering, supra, 17 Cal.3d at p. 195.)

For example, in *People v. Guzman* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 577 (*Guzman*), this Court held that Guzman, who committed nonviolent drug possession offenses (NDPOs) while on probation for offenses that were not NDPOs, was not entitled to mandatory probation under the Substance Abuse and Crime Prevention Act of 2000 (Proposition 36). This Court held that the plain language of Proposition 36 expressly addressed only 1) probationers who were already on probation for NDPO at the effective date of the Act or 2) those who receive probation under the Act for an NDPO. (*Id.* at p. 588.) This Court stated that under the *expressio unius* canon, "the Act's express inclusion only of probationers who are on probation for NDPO's implies the drafters' intent to exclude probationers who, like defendant, are on probation for non-NDPO's." (*Ibid.*)

Here, as in *Guzman*, Penal Code section 1170.18 lists specific enumerated crimes, and that list does not include Health and Safety Code section 11379. The electorate's intent to limit application of the Act to the

listed offenses is clear—the plain language of the statute states that a petitioner may request resentencing in accordance with particular listed code sections that have been "added or amended" by the Act. (Pen. Code, § 1170.18.) The logical inference is that any section not added or amended by the Act is not included or affected by the Act. There is no logical reason for mentioning only certain statutes if the electorate intended to include others. The statute's plain language illustrates the drafters' intent to limit the applicable offenses to those listed in the text.

Notably, it is undisputed that the 2014 amendment to Health and Safety Code section 11379 was not retroactive for defendants whose judgments of conviction were final as of January 1, 2014, when the amendment took effect. (See *People v. Eagle, supra*, 246 Cal.App.4th at p. 279.) If the explicit amendment of section 11379 cannot be applied retroactively to disrupt appellant's conviction for that offense, it would make little sense that Proposition 47—which makes no mention of Health and Safety Code section 11379 at all—could do so.

3. Unlike Some of the Amended Property Crimes, the Plain Language of the Act Does Not Permit the Three Amended Drug Possession Offenses to Incorporate Any Other Drug Offenses

Appellant argues that, despite the absence of any reference to Health and Safety Code section 11379 throughout the Act, it is appropriate to include section 11379 and other offenses within the Act's purview because a Penal Code section 1170.18 eligibility determination "calls for an assessment of the underlying conduct" of the conviction. (ABOM 20-22.) Appellant argues this conduct assessment is permissible for any offense because Penal Code sections 459.5 and 490.2, which were added by the Act, specifically require an assessment of whether the underlying conduct involved any type of larceny or theft crime that falls within the parameters listed in each section. Appellant, however, is mistaken. There is a

fundamental difference between the enumerated property crime offenses of the Act and the enumerated drug offenses. Three of the property crime statutes—Penal Code sections 459.5, 490.2, and 473—explicitly permit an analysis of the underlying conduct during the eligibility determination because of express language that redefines some forms of commercial burglary, theft, and forgery. But the language found in those three property offense statutes does not give courts the ability to assess the underlying conduct of *any* criminal offense in existence. The enumerated drug offense statutes, in contrast to the property offense statutes, contain no language that would permit such an action.

At its core, Proposition 47 set out to reduce two types of nonserious and nonviolent crimes from wobblers or felonies to misdemeanors: property and drug offenses. (See Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) Official Title and Summary, p. 35.) Under the property crimes category, the Act added two new statutes and amended four others. The Act added Penal Code section 459.5, which decreases the punishment for larceny committed in a specified way by creating a new crime: "Notwithstanding [Penal Code s]ection 459, shoplifting is defined as entering a commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that establishment is open during regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken or intended to be taken does not exceed [\$950]" (Pen. Code, § 459.5, subd. (a).) The Act also added Penal Code section 490.2, which decreases the punishment for any type of grand theft involving a value less than \$950: "Notwithstanding [Penal Code s]ection 487 or another provision of defining grand theft, obtaining any property by theft where the value of the money, labor, real or personal property taken does not exceed [\$950]." (Pen. Code, § 490.2, subd. (a); see also Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of proposed law, §§ 5, 8, pp. 71-72.) The Act also amended Penal Code sections 473, 476a, 496, and

666 to limit punishment to no more than one year, and section 473 was further modified to treat as a misdemeanant any person "guilty of forgery relating to a check, bond, bank bill, note, cashier's check, traveler's check, or money order" not exceeding \$950. (Pen. Code, § 473; see also Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec., *supra*, text of proposed law, §§ 6, 7, 9, 10, pp. 71-72.)

Through the added language of some of these property offense statutes, the Act set out to redefine *some* forms of larceny/commercial burglary, grand theft, or forgery that fit the specific requirements set forth in the statutory language. And based on this newly expansive language now found in the property offense statutes, the lower courts have been called upon to address the applicability of the Act to many different property crimes, with mixed results. Indeed, this Court has granted review of several cases involving property crimes under the Act: *People v. Romanowkski* (S231405); *People v. Page* (S230793); *People v. Garness* (S231031); *People v. Gonzales* (S231171).

By contrast, the amended drug possession statutes did not receive similarly expansive language that enables the inclusion of, or redefines, other unenumerated drug offenses. The Act amended only three drug possession offenses: Health and Safety Code sections 11350, 11357, and 11377. (Act, §§ 11-13.) These three Health and Safety Code sections were amended only by limiting punishment to up to one year in county jail except for persons with specified prior convictions. (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of proposed law, §§ 11-13, pp. 72-73.) The amendments to the three drug possession statutes did not redefine "possession" to encompass other drug crimes, nor did they contain any other language, or reference other drug crimes, which, like the property offenses, specifically permit an assessment of underlying conduct during an eligibility determination under Penal Code section 1170.18. And the Act

ATTA COMPANY OF A STATE OF A STAT

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